
 Mike Torelli, Chairman • Vincent Odock, Assistant Secretary 
         Paul Ruszkiewicz, Board Member • Dean Tamburri, Board Member 

 Bill Fioravanti, Chief Executive Officer • Susan R. Katzoff, General Counsel • Russell E. Gaenzle, Bond Counsel 

 Agenda

PLEASE TAKE NOTICE, The Orange County Industrial Development Agency will hold a regularly scheduled 
meeting on January 19, 2021, at 5:30 p.m. at the Orange County Government Center, 255 Main St., Goshen 
NY in the First Floor Community Room to consider and/or act upon the following:   

Order of Business 

• Pledge of Allegiance

• Roll Call

• Approval of Minutes for December 15, 2021 Board meeting

• Finance
o December 2021 Financial Reports
o December/January payables
o CFO Transition Update

• Chairman’s Report

• CEO Report

• New Business
o Board Officers & Committees
o New Accelerator Subtenants Leases

• Resolution
o CITIVA Application
o Project Nucleus Application

• Unfinished Business
o 360 Middletown Holdings LLC. / 13th Avenue Fish Market (January 2022)

• STE  Extension Retroactive  12/31/21 – 12/31/22

• Executive Session
• Adjournment

 To watch the livestream, please visit our website: www.ocnyida.com 

Dated: January 12, 2022 
By:       Bill Fioravanti – Chief Executive Officer 

1

http://www.ocnyida.com/


1 

ORANGE COUNTY INDUSTRIAL DEVELOPMENT AGENCY 

MINUTES: DECEMBER 15, 2021, BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
MEETING 

A virtual meeting (via Zoom) of the Orange County Industrial Development 
Agency was convened Wednesday, December 15, 2021, at 5:37 p.m. 

The meeting was called to order by Chairman Torelli, immediately followed by the 
Pledge of Allegiance. 

A roll call of the Board members showed four present. There is a quorum. The                
following are all who were in attendance: 

PRESENT: Michael Torelli, John Douthit, Paul Ruszkiewicz, Vincent 
Odock 

ABSENT: Dean Tamburri 

ALSO PRESENT: Bill Fioravanti – Chief Executive Officer 

Sue Katzoff – General Counsel 

Langdon Chapman – OC Attorney 

Russell Gaenzle – Bond Counsel 

Dean Brady – Technical Support 

A motion by Chairman Torelli to accept the minutes of the November 17, 2021 IDA Board 

meeting and the minutes of the December 1, 2021 Committee meeting was accepted and 

opened for questions or comments. 

Hearing no objections to the minutes, a motion was made by Chairman Torelli, seconded 

by Mr. Douthit, and passed by a unanimous roll call. 

Finance Report 
Mr. Fioravanti reviewed the November financials including interest earnings for the CD 

investments, and the typical monthly bills. WEDC payment is booked and accounted for 

but not approved yet. Expenses totaling $35,000 and we are $34,000 under budget for 

the year. OCIDA Accelerator Income, includes rent we receive from the Broadway 

Accelerator tenants which we are remitting back to B4 Holdings. Mr. Fioravanti detailed 

2



2 

other items including the Danza Lessee annual cost for rent and other expense items. He 

also met with Focus Media to discuss the end of their contract so that we may reprocure. 

Mr. Fioravanti noted Focus’s interest in bidding at the re-procurement and have offered to 

provide a number of hours of additional work, at no added expense, so that the IDA 

receives the value of what we’ve been paying for monthly. The investment CDs are still in 

process as we don’t have the required amount of signatures.  

Chairman Torelli moved to approve the financials subject to further discussion of the 

annual Middletown rent and the agency contribution cost for WEDC during payables 

portion of the agenda.  

With no objections, questions or concerns, a motion was made by Mr. Ruszkiewicz, 

seconded by Mr. Douthit, and passed by a unanimous roll call. 

Payables 
Mr. Fioravanti discussed the recurring bills and noted that the gas and electric bill and the 

Verizon FIOS bill for the 603 and 605 buildings would be transferred over to B4 holdings 

which resulted in those line items being deducted from the payables report. As previously 

mentioned, the Focus Media retainer will be deducted in future reports as their contract is 

set to expire, and this will be the IDA’s last month with Frontier for the Middletown 

building. Mr. Fioravanti discussed credit card payments and noted that the IDA would be 

moving away from the G-Suite platform and moving to Microsoft Office. The New Windsor 

rent payments for which the leases will expire at the end of this year, were also removed 

as well as the utilities and FIOS for the Broadway locations bringing the total payable 

amount to $107,018.85. Chairman Torelli addressed the Danza group’s annual rent 

request and asked Counsel to comment on how we handle rent payments for the different 

locations. Mr. Langdon suggested an attorney/client session before the Danza payment is 

submitted. The Chairman asked Mr. Fioravanti to deduct the Danza Lesser payment and 

put $81,648 on hold which decreased the new payables figure to $25,166.80. 

With no objections, questions or concerns regarding the new total, a motion was made by 

Mr. Douthit, seconded by Chairman Torelli, and passed by a unanimous roll call. 

3



3 

Mr. Fioravanti reviewed and confirmed the Loewke Brill “Monthly” payables. 

With no objections, questions or concerns, a motion was made by Mr. Ruszkiewicz, 

seconded by Mr. Odock, and passed by a unanimous roll call. 

Mr. Fioravanti reviewed the “All Other” payables report and noted the $500,000 is for the 

second set of CD investments previously approved; $250,000 at Empire State Bank for 

18 months at .4% and $250,000 at Connect One for 12 months at .25%. 

With no objections, questions or concerns, a motion to approve was made by Mr. Odock, 

seconded by Mr. Douthit, and passed by a unanimous roll call. 

Signatories: Mr. Fioravanti noted that a second signatory is needed and possibly a third 

as an additional option and asked Counsel for input. Ms. Kaztoff recommended more 

than one signatory and possibly a third so that we are not without a signer. As discussed 

at the last meeting, she suggested that safeguards be put in place for checks, dollar 

amounts, and accounts that will require two signers. Mr. Fioravanti confirmed that 

currently we need two signers and Chairman Torelli asked Mr. Ruszkiewicz to step in in 

the interim. Mr. Fioravanti suggested a Board member who was local in the interest of 

availability. 

With no objections, questions or concerns, a motion to approve Mr. Ruszkiewicz as a 

secondary signer was made by Chairman Torelli, seconded by Mr. Odock, and passed by 

a unanimous roll call. 

CFO discussion: Mr. Fioravanti presented his CFO comparison report and reviewed 

the current CFO situation and UHY’s duties along with some of the CFO-related work 

that has been undertaken by Ms. Kelly Reilly. He discussed the possibility of onboarding 

the Commissioner of Finance, Karen Hablow, with whom he’s met, RBT CPAs and 

lastly, BST headquartered in the Capitol District for the CFO for hire arrangement. He 

reviewed their proposals and fees and compared the cost of our current arrangements 

to the work that we may require from a firm. 

4



4 

 

 

 

With no objections, questions or concerns, a motion to approve RBT and UHY for CFO 

and Auditing duties was made by Chairman Torelli, seconded by Mr. Odock, and passed 

by a unanimous roll call. 

 

Chairman’s Report 
Chairman Torelli thanked Mr. Douthit for his work as a Board member for the OCIDA 

through the end of the year. He suggested a first-quarter retreat for Board and staff 

development for 2022 and a calendar for future committee meetings. 

 

Management Report 
Mr. Fioravanti stated that he’s settling into his position and looks forward to hiring for 

administrative help for the new year. He discussed changing the signage for new re-

branding. He continues to present and reintroduce the OCIDA to the public to rebuild the 

public’s trust and plans to do more presentations. He discussed Accelerator subtenants 

and the leases that still have not been renewed because of lack of activity or 

maintenance issues as we continue to support the clients to the best of our ability. He 

discussed bringing some new tenants in and renewing some of the current Accelerator 

clients to the end of our lease term. Mr. Fioravanti thanked the Board members who 

toured Inform Lightworks in New Windsor and noted that we worked together to come 

up with ways to continue to support them or get them a mentor/landlord and trying to 

help them find another location so they can continue to develop and launch their 

business. He anticipates receiving at least one new application next month.  

 

New Business 
The Board reviewed the open seats and discussed reappointing new committees. 

Counsel was asked to comment on the committees and what the IDA will need to do to 

be in compliance as far as committees and officers are concerned. Ms. Katzoff listed 

what was needed and recommended that she and Mr. Fioravanti have an opportunity to 

analyze what Committees we currently have and what we will need in terms of timing. 

Mr. Odock stated that he was under the impression that his term was ending at the end 

of December 2021 and planned accordingly. Chairman Torelli asked Mr. Ruszkiewicz to 

bring this up at the next E&E committee for information on reappointments in a letter in 

5



5 

January so that we have a full board in place. Ms. Kaztoff recommended a detailed 

discussion with Mr. Fioravanti to identify the committees that are most urgently needed 

and getting reappointments as soon as possible so that we remain in compliance. Mr. 

Gaenzle will review the OCIDA’s Enabling Legislation for a minimum number of Board 

members and he will discuss further with Ms. Katzoff offline. Ms. Katzoff and Mr. 

Fioravanti will work on a committee schedule for the new year.  

Mr. Fioravanti discussed the Newburgh 139 LLC Assignment of Benefits and shared a 

letter from Mr. Martin Milano, Hampton Inn, Crossroads Court in the Town of Newburgh 

which is a 10-year PILOT approved by the previous board. Mr. Milano is selling the hotel 

to a new group who will continue to operate the hotel with no change in operations and 

no change in employees. Mr. Gaenzle explained the assumption and requested that the 

board consider an approval. Ms. Katzoff had no objections if the new owners know how 

to operate this kind of business. Mr. Fioravanti confirmed that this new group has other 

hotels in NYC but will be new to the Orange County area. He is scheduled to call them 

in the upcoming days and stated we will continue to do our due diligence as they are 

scheduled to close on the purchase of the hotel next week. Mr. Fioravanti confirmed that 

the current owners are up to date on all property taxes and there are no delinquency or 

compliance issues on our end.  

With no objections, questions or concerns, a motion to approve the Assigment and 

Assumption was made by Chairman Torelli, seconded by Mr. Douthit, and passed by a 

unanimous roll call.  

Counsel to share their findings with Mr. Fioravanti to be reviewed by the Board. 

Mr. Fioravanti noted that he continues to try to fill the vacancies in some of the empty 

Accelerator buildings as clients have mostly been working from home due to the 

pandemic. He stated that there are two groups that are interested in leasing the vacant 

space in the Middletown accelerator. Eczesoothe is one client looking to lease the 

space for clinical trials of their product and Oxyvita is the other group.  

Mr. Fioravanti will work with Counsel on a lease and term sheet for the subtenants to be 

presented to the Board at the January 2022 meeting for review and approval. 

6



6 

 

 

Unfinished Business 
Mr. Fioravanti discussed two extension requests for previously approved projects: 

Leentjes and South Gate Flats Hotel into 2022. After approval, there’s a one-year time 

limit where they must close on their projects. The projects are also looking for an 

approval of an increased amount of sales tax exemptions due to delays because of the 

pandemic and the rising cost of materials. Counsel suggested that the projects submit 

an updated or supplemental application so that the new numbers can be verified, and a 

new public hearing held. Mr. Fioravanti asked for confirmation that the projects may start 

making qualified purchases. Counsel confirmed they can purchase up to the initially 

approved amount and the projects must finalize their initial prior approvals. Once 

finalized, Counsel will coordinate a new public hearing so that the projects may present 

anew. The Board will not approve until the supplemental documents are submitted. 

 

At 6:36pm the meeting went into Executive Session 

 

The meeting resumed at 6:38pm. 

 

The Chairman moved to enter a Resolution to commence litigation against Mr. Vincent 

Cozzolino, Ms. Laurie Villasuso, Mr. Ed Diana, Galileo Technology Group and any 

officer, shareholder, or manager of GTG to recover funds paid due to void contracts 

entered into during the unlawful conduct of the aforementioned parties. 

 

A motion to approve the Resolution was made by Chairman Torelli, seconded by Mr. 

Douthit, and passed by a unanimous roll call. 

 

A motion to adjourn was made, seconded, and unanimously accepted. 

 

The meeting               closed at 7:11 pm. 

7



8



Dec Y-T-D Budget Over/(Under)
Income

Client Rent  $              8,593  $            97,573  $          105,000  $             (7,427)
Interest Income  $                      4  $                    63  $                  100  $                  (37)

Total Income  $              8,597  $            97,636  $          105,100  $             (7,464)

Expenses
Salaries & Benefits  $            22,986  $          221,205  $          444,900  $        (223,695)
Payroll taxes and fees  $              6,373  $            30,757  $            38,800  $             (8,043)
Management Expense  $                     -    $            72,999  $          460,000  $        (387,001)
Accelerator Without Walls  $                     -    $            17,563  $          400,000  $        (382,438)
Special Initiatives  $                     -    $              2,350  $          113,700  $        (111,350)
Building Expenses:
    Insurance  $                (194)  $            46,327  $            24,200  $            22,127 
    Rent  $            16,709  $          493,077  $          667,200  $        (174,123)
    Utilities  $              2,991  $            73,615  $            66,300  $              7,315 
    Repairs & Maintenance  $                     -    $              4,185  $              3,000  $              1,185 
    Operations  $                  225  $            11,432  $              8,400  $              3,032 
    Renovations  $                     -    $                     -    $          100,000  $        (100,000)

19,731$            628,636$          869,100$          (240,464)$         
Equipment Maintenance - Other  $                     -    $                     -    $              1,000  $             (1,000)
Information Technology  $                  183  $            34,083  $            62,700  $          (28,617)
Marketing, PR, Website & Membership  $              7,101  $          103,502  $            59,800  $            43,702 
Office Cleaning  $              2,096  $            34,950  $            77,500  $          (42,550)
Office Supplies and Postage  $                  518  $            12,249  $            21,400  $             (9,151)
Travel, Lodging & Meals  $                  895  $                  895  $              8,000  $             (7,105)
Training & Education  $                     -    $                     -    $              5,400  $             (5,400)
Professional Fees  $                     -    $              7,494  $            35,000  $          (27,506)
Conference Expense (BA Sponsored)  $                     -    $                     -    $            50,000  $          (50,000)

Total Expenses  $            59,884  $      1,167,290  $      2,647,300  $     (1,480,010)

Income Over/(Under) Expenses  $          (51,287)  $     (1,069,654)  $     (2,542,200)  $      1,472,546 

OCIDA (Accelerator)
Income and Expense Summary

December 2021

9



10



Approv ID January 19 2022
Category Recurring Bldg Services
Amt Y

Vendor Invoice Purpose/Description Location Service Date(s) Sum of Amount
Orange & Rockland 26670-19018 Electricity Warwick 12/1/21-12/31/21 851.93

Orange & Rockland Total 851.93
Time Warner Cable 15224120221 Internet both buildings 334 Ave of Americas 11/22/21-12/21/21 425.90

Time Warner Cable Total 425.90

Central Hudson Gas & Electric Corp.2100-3415-86-2 Gas & Electric Newburgh - 603 11/2/21-12/1/21 305.87

2100-3921-75-2 Gas & Electric 334 Ave of Americas 11/18/21-12/17/21 1,104.31
2100-4136-65-7 Gas & Electric Newburgh - 605 11/11/21-12/10/21 238.13
2100-4053-40-7 Gas & Electric Newburgh - 603 11/11/21-12/10/21 168.71

Central Hudson Gas & Electric Corp. Total 1,817.02

Complete Document Solutions IN429482 Copier Prints (B/W & Color) 4 Crotty Ln 11/2/21-12/1/21 146.13

Complete Document Solutions Total 146.13
Xerox Financial Service 2992785 Copier Lease payment 4 Crotty Ln 12/15/21-1/14/22 301.95

Xerox Financial Service Total 301.95
LaMela Sanitation 1CX02710 Trash & Recycle 334 Ave of Americas 12/1/21-12/31/21 230.63

LaMela Sanitation Total 230.63
B4 Holdings -- Building 603 Rent Newburgh - 603 11/21-12/21 1,000.00

B4 Holdings Total 1,000.00
First Columbia 4-LA, LLC 607010020210701 Building Rent &CAM 4 Crotty Ln February  2022 10,509.89

6.0701E+14 Gas & Electric 4 Crotty Ln 10/21/21-11/18/21 445.02
First Columbia 4-LA, LLC Total 10,954.91

88 Studio,  LLC --
Brand Management & 
Updated Business Cards

4 Crotty Ln 12/1/21-12/31/21 2,605.00

88 Studio,  LLC Total 2,605.00
MidHudson News.com 7074 Monthly Advertising 4 Crotty Ln 12/1/21-12/31/21 1,000.00

MidHudson News.com Total 1,000.00
KR Cleaning -- Office Cleaning 334 Ave of Americas January 2022 1,000.00

KR Cleaning Total 1,000.00
TPx Communications 1144876 Phone System 4 Crotty Ln 12/1/21-12/31/21 507.27

1345569 Phone System 4 Crotty Ln 1/1/22-1/31/22 502.23
TPx Communications Total 1,009.50

Frontier 845-196-1205-020818-4 Internet Middletown 12/2/21-1/1/22 599.00
Phone Line Middletown 12/2/21-1/1/22 90.31
Ethernet Middletown 12/4/21-1/3/22 419.09
Wireless Data Svc Middletown 12/4/21-1/3/22 315.00

845-343-2409-020218-4 Phone Line Middletown 1/2/22-2/1/22 90.40
Frontier Total 1,513.80

Facilities Maintenance Corp. 79249 Cleaning Middletown December 2021 1,096.00
Facilities Maintenance Corp. Total 1,096.00

Orange County Chamber of Commerce 114621 Annual Membership 4 Crotty Ln 1/1/22-12/31/22 457.00
Orange County Chamber of Commerce Total 457.00

Crystal  Rock 21066678 111221 H2O  & Cooler 4 Crotty Ln 12/8/21 27.38
Crystal  Rock Total 27.38

Cardmember Service 4798510053527392
Marketing, PR, 
Membership

4 Crotty Ln 11/9/21-12/9/21 302.61

Cardmember Service Total 302.61
Marangi  Disposal 1C100599 Trash & Recycle Middletown 12/1/21 107.02

Marangi  Disposal Total 107.02

OCIDA Vendor Payment Approval
Recurring Bldg Services

January 19, 2022

11



Credit Card Payment  Processing 3074
GoDaddy,Google G-Suite,
Visonect,Zoom, Survey

4 Crotty Ln 11/23/21-12-16-21 884.91

Credit Card Payment  Processing Total 884.91
National Business Leasing 74893626 Copier Middletown 12/15/21-1/14/22 360.36

National Business Leasing Total 360.36
Grand Total 26,092.05

12



Approv ID January 19 2022
Category Monthly Contracts
Amt Y

Vendor Invoice Purpose/Description Location Service Date(s) Sum of Amount

UHY Advisors 620413790
Monthly Retainer / 
Bookkeeper /Quickbooks

4 Crotty Ln Jul-Dec 2021 1,789.00

620413792
Monthly Retainer / 
Bookkeeper /Quickbooks

4 Crotty Ln Jul-Dec 2021 2,926.25

UHY Advisors Total 4,715.25

Loewke Brill Consulting 16-011-065 Site Visits & Reporting 4 Crotty Ln 12/23/21 3,920.00
Loewke Brill Consulting Total 3,920.00

Bousquet Holstein PLLC. 229636
General Counsel - 
Teleconference

4 Crotty Ln 11/19/21 162.50

Bousquet Holstein PLLC. Total 162.50
ITC 111401 Internet 4 Crotty Ln 12/14/2021-12/15/21 2,141.39

111443 Internet 4 Crotty Ln 12/14/21-12/15/21 1,082.80
ITC Total 3,224.19
Grand Total 12,021.94

OCIDA Vendor Payment Approval
Monthly Contracts
January 19, 2022

13



Approv ID January 19 2022
Category All Other
Amt Y

Vendor Invoice Purpose/Description Location Service Date(s) Sum of Amount

Orange County IDA (blank)
Labor Audit Funds 
transferred to Escrow Acct

4 Crotty Ln January 2022 7,400.00

Orange County IDA Total 7,400.00
William A. Smith & Son 3052-3053 Coverage 4 Crotty Ln 12/17/21 3,174.00

William A. Smith & Son Total 3,174.00

NYSEDC 12942 Annual Membership 4 Crotty Ln 1/1/22 2,000.00

NYSEDC Total 2,000.00
Galo Ullauri (Seco Silkscreen) 11056453 Building Repairs 334 Ave of Americas 12/28/21 38.62

Galo Ullauri (Seco Silkscreen) Total 38.62
Grand Total 12,612.62

OCIDA Vendor Payment Approval
All Other

January 19, 2022

14



RESOLUTION OF THE ORANGE COUNTY INDUSTRIAL               
DEVELOPMENT AGENCY (IDA)  

 

WHEREAS, by Title I of Article 18-A of the General Municipal Law of the State 
of New York and the New York General Municipal Law Section 912, (herein  
collectively referred to as the “Act”), the ORANGE COUNTY INDUSTRIAL 
DEVELOPMENT AGENCY (hereinafter referred to as the “Agency”), was 
created with the authority and power to own, lease and sell property for the 
purpose of, among other things, acquiring, constructing and equipping civic, 
industrial, manufacturing and commercial facilities as authorized by the Act; and 

WHEREAS, on August 22, 2017, the Agency entered into a Lease Agreement with 
the Danza Leser Group, LLC, (the “Agency’s Lease”) for the rental of 
approximately 7500 sq. ft. of space, which included Suites 1 through Suite 19, 
located at 60 Prospect Avenue, Middletown, New York, 10940 (the “Premises”); 
and 

WHEREAS the Agency’s Lease will expire as of November 19, 2022; and 

WHEREAS the Agency desires to enter into subleases for Suites 10, 11 and 15 of 
the Premises (the “Leased Suites”) for the period from February 1, 2022, through 
November 19, 2022, the date on which the Agency’s Lease terminates, if not 
earlier terminated by either party; (the “Subleases”); and 

WHEREAS the Agency desires to negotiate the rental payments due in connection 
with the Subleases; and 

WHEREAS the Subleases are attached hereto and made a part hereof and have 
been reviewed by the Agency; and 

WHEREAS, after analysis and discussion, the Board of Directors of the Agency, 
by a majority vote of the members, at a Regular meeting, at which a quorum was 
present, have reviewed the Subleases and have determined that it would be in the 
best interest of the Agency to adopt a resolution authorizing the execution of the 
Subleases, substantially in the form annexed hereto; and  

 

15



NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, BY THE MEMBERS OF THE 
ORANGE COUNTY INDUSTRIAL DEVELOPMENT AGENCY, AS 
FOLLOWS: 

 

RESOLVED, that the Agency is hereby authorized to offer the Subleases for the 
Leased Suites, which Subleases shall expire on November 19, 2022, the date on 
which the Agency’s Lease terminates, if not earlier terminated by either party; and 
be it further 

 

RESOLVED,  that the Agency has reviewed and approved the  Subleases, 
substantially in the form annexed hereto, and hereby authorizes the Chairperson, 
Vice Chairperson, Chief Executive Officer and/or Managing Agent of the Agency 
to negotiate the final terms of the Subleases, including, but not limited to, the rental 
payments for the Subleases, and to agree upon such terms and conditions as the 
Chairperson, Vice Chairperson, Chief Executive Officer  and/or Managing Agent 
shall, in his or her sole discretion, deem acceptable; and be it further 

 

RESOLVED, that the Agency hereby authorizes the Chairperson, Vice 
Chairperson, Chief Executive Officer and/or Managing Agent of the Agency to 
execute the Subleases on such terms and conditions as the Chairperson, Vice 
Chairperson, Chief Executive Officer and/or Managing Agent shall, in his or her 
sole discretion, deem acceptable; and be it further 

 

RESOLVED, that the Chairperson, Vice Chairperson, Chief Executive Officer 
and/or Managing Agent of the Agency are hereby authorized and directed, in the 
name of and on behalf of the Agency, to do and perform all such other acts, and to 
sign and make such other agreements, and to execute any other documents and to 
take or omit such other actions as he or she, in his or her sole discretion, shall deem 
necessary or advisable to enter into the Further Subleases and to carry out the 
intent of these resolutions. 

 

 

16



RESOLVED, that these Resolutions shall take effect immediately. 

 

The question of the adoption of the foregoing Resolution was duly put to vote on 
roll call on January 17, 2022, which resulted as follows: 

 

In favor______Against ____       Motion _____ does _____ does not carry. 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

17



 

STATE OF NEW YORK  ) 

COUNTY OF ORANGE  ) ss: 

 

I, the undersigned Secretary of the Orange County Industrial Development 
Agency, do hereby certify: 

 That I have compared the foregoing extract of the minutes of the Regular 
Meeting of the Orange County Industrial Development Agency (the “Agency”), 
including the resolution contained therein, held on the 17th day of January, 2022, 
with the original thereof on file in my office, and the same is a true and correct 
copy of the proceedings of the Agency and of such resolution set forth therein and 
of the whole of said original insofar as the same relates to the subject matters 
therein referred to. 

 I FURTHER CERTIFY that all members of the Agency had notice of said 
meeting, that the meeting was in all respects duly held and that, pursuant to Article 
7 of the Public Officers Law (Open Meetings Law), said meeting was open to the 
general public and that public notice of the time and place of said meeting was 
duly given in accordance with Article 7. 

 I FURTHER CERTIFY that there was a quorum of the members of the 
Agency present throughout the meeting. 

 I FURTHER CERTIFY that, as of the date hereof, the attached resolution is 
in full force and effect and has not been amended, repealed or modified. 

 

 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and seal of said 
Agency this       day of January 2022 

 

     _______________________________ 

                                                , Secretary 

 

    

18



19



20



21



22



23



24



25



26



27



28



29



30



31



32



33



34



35



36



37



38



39



40



41



42



43



44



45



46



47



48



49



50



51



52



53



54



55



56



57



58



59



60



61



62



63



64



65



66



67



68



69



70



71



72



73



74



APPROVING RESOLUTION 
 
 A regular meeting of the Orange County Industrial Development Agency was held on 
January 19, 2022 at 5:30 p.m. (local time) in the Community Room at the OC Government 
Center, 255 Main Street, Goshen, New York in accordance with Executive Order Number 202.1, 
as extended by subsequent executive orders. 
 
 The meeting was called to order by the _________ and upon the roll being duly called, the 
following members were: 
 
 BOARD MEMBERS PRESENT:  
 
 THE FOLLOWING PERSONS WERE ALSO PRESENT VIA 
TELE/VIDEOCONFERENCE Staff Present: ___________-; Others Present: 
________________ 
 
 The following resolution was offered by __________ and seconded by ______________: 
                                   

RESOLUTION APPROVING A RETROACTIVE 
EXTENSION OF THE APPOINTMENT OF THE 
COMPANY AND ITS SUB-AGENTS AS AGENTS OF THE 
AGENCY UNTIL DECEMBER 31, 2022; AND 
AUTHORIZING THE EXECUTION OF ANY AND ALL 
NECESSARY DOCUMENTS 

 
WHEREAS, the Orange County Industrial Development Agency (the “Agency”) is 

authorized and empowered by Title 1 of Article 18-A of the General Municipal Law of the State 
of New York (the “State”), as amended, together with Chapter 390 of the Laws of 1972 of the 
State of New York, as amended from time to time (collectively, the “Act”), to promote, develop, 
encourage and assist in the acquiring, constructing, reconstructing, improving, maintaining, 
equipping and furnishing of industrial, manufacturing, warehousing, commercial, research and 
recreation facilities, for the purpose of promoting economically sound commerce and industry to 
advance the job opportunities, health, general prosperity and economic welfare of the people of 
the State, to improve their recreation opportunities, prosperity and standard of living; and 
 

 WHEREAS, at the request of 13th Avenue Fish Market, Inc. ("13th Ave."), on 
behalf of 360 Middletown Holdings LLC (the “Company”), by resolution dated November 14, 
2019 (the “Inducement Resolution”) the Agency agreed to undertake a project (the “Project”) 
consisting of: (A) the acquisition by the Agency of a leasehold interest in an approximately 7.8±-
acre parcel of land located at 360 Crystal Run Road in the Town of Walkill, Orange County, 
New York (the "Land") together with the existing approximately 31,534 square-foot warehouse 
building thereon (collectively the "Existing Improvements"); (B) the renovation and 
reconstruction of the Existing Improvements to house the Freund's Fish Market expansion of its 
production line and scope of distribution, to be implemented in six phases, including, but not 

75



limited to, (i) kosher Japanese food products, (ii) raw fish production,(iii) gelfite fish production, 
(iv) breading machinery, (v) wholesale appetizing products, and (vi) frozen foods (collectively, 
the "Improvements"), and (C) the acquisition in and around the Improvements of certain items of 
equipment, machinery and  other  tangible  personal  property (the "Equipment"; and, 
collectively with the Land, the Existing Improvements and the Improvements, the "Facility"); 
(B) the granting of certain financial assistance including some or all of the following: 
exemptions from real estate taxes, State and local sales and use tax and mortgage recording tax 
(in accordance with Section 874 of the General Municipal Law) (collectively the “Financial 
Assistance”); (C) the appointment of the Company or its designee as an agent of the Agency in 
connection with the acquisition, construction, renovation, equipping and completion of the 
Project Facility; and (D) the lease of the Land and Facility by the Agency pursuant to a lease 
agreement and the acquisition of an interest in the Equipment; and the sublease of the Project 
Facility back to the Company pursuant to a sublease agreement; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Company and Agency entered into a lease transaction, dated as of 
December 1, 2019, to effectuate the undertaking of the Project and the conference of the 
approved Financial Assistance (the “Lease Transaction”).  As part of the Lease Transaction for 
purposes of undertaking and completing the Project Facility, the Company was appointed as the 
agent of the Agency through December 31, 2021 (the “Appointment”), and was awarded an 
amount not to exceed $153,359 in exemptions from State and local sales and use tax (the " 
Exemption"); and 
 
 WHEREAS, by letter dated December 13, 2021, the Company advised of unexpected 
delays in construction due to the ongoing impacts of COVID-19.  As such, the Company is 
requesting an extension of their Appointment from December 31, 2021 to December 31, 2022 to 
provide them an opportunity to complete the Project (the " Extension"); and 
 
 WHEREAS, as of December 13, 2021 the Company has a balance of approximately 
$98,400.00 in unused State and local sales and use tax exemption remaining available for the 
Project (the “Remaining Exemption”).  The Company is not requesting any additional financial 
assistance; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Extension is in furtherance of the Financial Assistance that was 
previously approved for the Project, which underwent an environmental review pursuant to the 
State Environmental Quality Review Act (“SEQRA”), and the present Extension request is 
insubstantial and does not require reconsideration or further review by the Agency under 
SEQRA. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

76



 NOW, THEREFORE, be it resolved by the members of the Orange County Industrial 
Development Agency as follows: 
 
 (1) Based upon the representations made by the Company to the Agency, including 
but not limited to there being no event of default under the Lease Documents (as defined herein), 
the Agency hereby makes the following findings and determinations:  
   
  (a) The granting of the Extension does not require reconsideration or further 
review under SEQRA.  
 
  (b) The Agency authorizes the Extension for purposes of completing the 
Project through and including December 31, 2022, conditioned upon the Company: (i) 
representing and warranting that there are no events of default under any of the documents 
executed and delivered by the Company in conjunction with the Lease Transaction, including but 
not limited to a lease agreement, a leaseback agreement, a project agreement and an 
environmental compliance and indemnification agreement, each dated as of December 1, 2019 
(collectively, the "Lease Documents"); (ii) confirming that all insurance executed and delivered 
in conjunction with the Project and the Lease Transaction remains in full force and effect all in 
accordance with the Lease Documents and will submit to the Agency proof of insurance naming 
the Agency as an additional insured pursuant to the Agency’s requirements under the Lease 
Documents; (iii) submitting to the Agency any applicable information requested by the Agency 
with respect to the Extension so that they can accurately track and report Project and Financial 
Assistance information as required under the Act; (iv) executing and delivering any and all 
documents required by the Agency in connection with the Extension and to carry out the intent 
of this Resolution; (v) submitting any applicable  administrative fees and all legal fees incurred 
by the Agency in exchange for the Agency’s grant of the Extension; and (vi) submitting any 
proof required by the Agency demonstrating that the Company has not realized State and local 
sales and use tax exemptions in excess of what was authorized for the Project. 
 
 (2) The Agency is authorized to execute all documents necessary to effectuate the 
Extension (collectively, the “Extension Documents”) including but not limited to revisions or 
amendments of the Lease Documents, issuance of a new Sales Tax Appointment Letter and an 
amendment or extension of the appropriate “IDA Appointment of Project Operator or Agent for 
Sales Tax Purposes” (Form ST-60) for each of the Company and any sub-agents in accordance 
with the Lease Documents; and each the Chairman, the Vice Chairman and/or the Executive 
Director of the Agency are hereby authorized, on behalf of the Agency, to execute and deliver 
the documents, to make such other changes, omissions, insertions, revisions, or amendments to 
the documents referred to herein as the (Vice) Chair deems appropriate and to do and cause to be 
done any such other acts and things, as they determine, on advice of counsel to the Agency, may 
be necessary or desirable to consummate the transactions contemplated by this Resolution.  The 
execution thereof by the Chair, the Vice Chair and/or the Executive Director constitutes 
conclusive evidence of such approval.  
 
 (3) Bousquet Holstein PLLC, as counsel to the Agency, is hereby authorized to work 
with the Agency and others to prepare, for submission to the Chair, Vice Chair and/or Executive 
Director, all Documents necessary to effect the intent of this Resolution. 

77



 
 (4) The Company shall provide or cause its Additional Agents to provide, and the 
Agency shall maintain, records of the amount of State and local sales and use tax exemption 
benefits provided to the Project and the Company shall, and cause each Additional Agent, to 
make such records available to the Agency and the State Commissioner of Taxation and Finance 
(the “Commissioner”) upon request.  The Agency shall, within thirty (30) days of providing any 
State sales and use tax exemption benefits, report to the Commissioner the amount of such 
benefits for the Project, identifying the Project, along with any such other information and 
specificity as the Commissioner may prescribe.  As a condition precedent to the Company or 
Project’s receipt of, or benefit from, any State or local sales and use tax exemptions, the 
Company must acknowledge and agree to make, or cause its Additional Agents to make, all 
records and information regarding State and local sales and use tax exemption benefits realized 
by the Project available to the Agency or its designee upon request. 
 

(5) No covenant, stipulation, obligation or agreement contained in this resolution or any 
document referred to herein shall be deemed to be the covenant, stipulation, obligation or 
agreement of any member, officer, agent or employee of the Agency in his or her individual 
capacity. Neither the members nor officers of the Agency, nor any person executing any documents 
referred to above on behalf of the Agency, shall be liable thereon or be subject to any personal 
liability or accountability by reason of the execution or delivery thereof. 

 
(6) The Secretary of the Agency is hereby authorized and may distribute copies of this 

Resolution and do such further things or perform such acts as may be necessary or convenient to 
implement the provisions of this Resolution. 

 
  (7) This Resolution shall become effective immediately. A copy of this Resolution, 
together with any attachments hereto, shall be placed on file in the office of the Agency where the 
same shall be available for public inspection during business hours. 
 
 The question of the adoption of the foregoing resolution was duly put to vote on a roll 
call, which resulted as follows: 
 
              AYE               NAY 
 
 Mike Torelli 
 Vincent Odock  
 Paul Ruszkiewicz  
 Dean Tamburri  
 
The foregoing Resolution was thereupon declared duly adopted. 

78



 
STATE OF NEW YORK  ) 
     )  SS.: 
COUNTY OF ORANGE  ) 
 
 
  I, the undersigned Secretary of the Orange County Industrial Development Agency, 
DO HEREBY CERTIFY that I have compared the annexed extract of the minutes of the meeting 
of the Orange County Industrial Development Agency (the “Agency”) held on January ___, 2022, 
with the original thereof on file in the office of the Agency, and that the same (including all 
exhibits) is a true and correct copy of the proceedings of the Agency and of the whole of such 
original insofar as the same relates to the subject matters referred to therein. 
 
 I FURTHER CERTIFY that: (i) all members of the Agency had due notice of such 
meeting; (ii) pursuant to Section 104 of the Public Officers Law (Open Meetings Law), as 
temporarily amended by Executive Order 202.1 issued on March 12, 2020 ("EO 202.1"), as 
amended and extended from time to time, such meeting was open to the general public and public 
notice of the time and how to participate in such meeting  was duly given in accordance with such 
Section 104 and EO 202.1; (iii) the meeting was in all respects duly held; and (iv) there was a 
quorum present throughout. 
 
 I FURTHER CERTIFY that, as of the date hereof, the attached Resolution is in full force 
and effect and has not been amended, repealed or rescinded. 
 
 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have set my hand and affixed the seal of the Agency on 
_____________________________. 
 
 
 

ORANGE COUNTY INDUSTRIAL 
DEVELOPMENT AGENCY 
 
 
By: ____________________________ 

___________________, Secretary 
 
 
(S E A L) 

79




